IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2009-CA-00235

5

RONNIE MOORE and JEFF MOORE

APPELLANTS

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following list of persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Appellants

Ronnie Moore Jeff Moore

Appellants Counsel

Jerry L. Mills, MSP John P. Scanlon, MSB # PYLE, MILLS, DYE & PITTMAN 800 Avery Blvd. Ste. 101 Ridgeland, MS 39158 Telephone: 601-957-2600

Facsimile: 601-957-2600

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- 1. Whether the computers at issue in this matter are not illegal gambling devices as the elements of consideration and chance are absent and thus, whether they are not contraband per se, and should be returned to the Moores.
- 2. Whether the cards used in this case are directly comparable to those in MGC v. Treasured Arts, and do not constitute an illegal gambling device alone, or when used with the computers.
- 3. Whether the Justice Court retained jurisdiction over the seized computers and a replevin action was not merited.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

This matter, which began in Justice Court, and then proceeded through Circuit Court, arose out of criminal charges that were filed by the State of Mississippi against the Defendants, Appellants here, Ronnie and Jeff Moore for possessing and operating, respectively, illegal gambling machines without a license in their internet café in West Point, Mississippi¹. In

¹ The charges brought against Appellant Ronnie Moore are primarily in connection with his ownership of the internet café, while those brought against Appellant Jeff Moore are in connection with his management of and involvement in the business of the internet café. Jeff Moore had and has no ownership in the seized computers or in

connection with those charges, the State seized dozens of computer terminals from the internet café. The events in what would otherwise be a relatively simple matter are somewhat muddled by the fact that was never a true trial in the Justice Court to determine the Appellants' guilt. This is mostly because the criminal charges were dismissed upon motion by the State in the Justice Court before those charges could have actually been tried. Further, the true underlying issues were also not actually tried in Circuit Court, but rather were the subject of a hearing. Even today, as this matter is reviewed by a Mississippi court for the third time, there has never been an actual trial on the determination of the Appellants' guilt, and no criminal charges are on file against the Defendants.

Thus, this matter has arrived before this Court in a most unusual fashion; the Defendants are yet to have their guilt, or lack thereof, determined by any court, in no small part because no criminal charges are pending against them. At the request of the State, the trial court ordered that the charges be dropped and the case dismissed; afterward, the present dispute arose as to whether the Justice Court should and/or could order the computers returned to Ronnie Moore, which depends on whether the computers at issue are illegal gambling devices and thus contraband per se. The Moores now request this Court reverse the Circuit Court's decision.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Courts Below

A. Justice court proceedings and disposition.

On approximately September 12, 2007, the State of Mississippi filed criminal charges in the Justice Court of Clay County against Ronnie Moore for his ownership of and involvement in

the internet café. However, for sake of ease, and without undermining this distinction, the Appellants will sometimes be referenced collectively herein as "the Moores," and the café as "the Moores' internet café," notwithstanding the fact that only Ronnie actually owned the café.

the Paradise Isle Internet Café² and Jeff Moore for his involvement in managing the internet café in West Point, Mississippi. (R. 34, 44.) The criminal charges were set for trial on October 18, but the State eventually sought dismissal of the charges before the date of trial. (R. 44-45.) On October 16, in a meeting between counsel and the Justice Court judge, the State made an oral motion to the Justice Court requesting that the charges be dismissed without prejudice. (R. 10-11, 26, 30, 298.) The reasoning for this decision by the State is not entirely clear, but was purportedly to allow for additional time to analyze the items seized. (R. 10-11.) The Moores objected to the State's motion, and also made an oral motion of their own to the Court that the computers be returned. (R. 11, 298.) On October 16, 2007, the Justice Court entered an order granting the State's motion and dismissing the charges against the Appellants without prejudice, but reserved ruling on the Moores' motion that their computers be returned, instead setting that matter for hearing on October 18, 2007, the date originally reserved for trial. (R. 11, 298.)

On October 18, 2007, the Clay County Justice Court held a hearing, to determine only whether the seized items should be returned to the Moores, based on the dismissal requested by the State. (R. 76, 77-79.) Counsel for the State represented to the Justice Court that Mississippi case law dictated that "where a machine *obviously* appears to be an illegal gaming device, the owner of that machine does not have a property right in that machine." (R. 81, emphasis added.) The Justice Court made it clear that the computers had not been proven to be "illegal gambling devices" and that the computers should likely be returned, partially on the basis that the State, by its own admission, was not prepared or able to try a case based on the crimes that had been

² Some confusion exists in the record as to name of the internet café business which is the subject of this appeal. The proper name of the internet café is Paradise Isle Internet Café. For the sake of clarity, the sign for "One Step Shoes" which still hung above the internet café's front door at the time these events took place belonged to and identified the previous tenant of the retail space the internet café occupied. A sign for the internet café had already been ordered at the time.

previously charged against the Moores. (R. 77-79.) The Justice Court emphasized that the court suspected Ronnie Moore was being unjustly deprived of their property without a determination of the nature of the machines, and without either Defendant having been found guilty. (R. 80.)

Nevertheless, the Justice Court granted the State's request for three (3) more weeks from the date of the hearing, October 18, 2007, to complete its investigation and analysis of the seized machines, at which point the State either would have to file more criminal charges, or return the machines. (R. 84, 299.) Eventually, the Justice Court also entered a written order on November 1, 2007, to this effect – ordering that by November 8, 2007, or exactly three (3) weeks after the hearing, the State was either to file criminal charges against the Moores, or return the seized items to both Defendants³. (R. 11, 299.) Those three (3) weeks came and went with no action taken by the State. The State did not, in accordance with that order, return the computers to the Moores, and as of the filing of this appellate brief, has still not returned the computers to the Moores, despite the fact that no criminal charges have been filed or reinstated since the State's request to dismiss the case was granted. Thus, the ruling by the Clay County Justice Court was ultimately in favor of Defendants/Appellants Ronnie Moore and Jeff Moore.

B. Circuit court proceedings and disposition.

From that November 1 order, the State filed its Notice of Appeal⁴ on November 29, 2007, in the Circuit Court. (R. 10-14.) In its Notice of Appeal to the Circuit Court, the State argued that 1) the State was not allowed to present fully its arguments at the initial hearing, and that 2) the State "was led to believe a subsequent hearing would occur on November 15, 2007." (R. 11.)

³ This was the sole issue determined by the Justice Court. There was no determination made, or argument presented, regarding the question of whether the seized computers were in fact illegal gambling devices.

⁴ Because the initial proceedings took place in Clay County Justice Court, upon appeal, the State would have normally been entitled to a trial de novo in the Circuit Court; however, no trial ever occurred.

However, by the counsel for State's own admission at that hearing, the State did not have a case at that time for the misdemeanors previously charged against the Defendants, and was not prepared to try those charges. (R. 77.) Additionally, nowhere in the record is there any indication that any court proceeding was to take place on November 15.

Shortly thereafter, on December 26, 2007, the Moores had a Subpoena Duces Tecum issued by the Circuit Court, instructing the Mississippi Gaming Commission to deliver the seized computers to the Circuit Court on January 14, 2008. (R. 17-20.) Also on December 26, 2007, the Moores had the Circuit Court issue a Subpoena to Special Agent E.W. Williams of the Mississippi Gaming Commission, instructing him to testify at the hearing on January 14, 2007. (R. 22-23.) On January 9, 2008, the State then filed 1) a Motion to Quash Appellees' Subpoena, and 2) a Motion to Quash Appellees' Subpoena Duces Tecum, or in the Alternative, Motion for Protective Order. (R. 25-33.)

On January 11, 2008, the State filed its Memorandum of Law in the Circuit Court, asking the Circuit Court to vacate the Justice Court's Nov. 1, 2007, order, based on a variety of arguments. (R. 34-42.) The State argued that the Justice Court erred with respect to Defendant Jeffrey Moore as he had no ownership in the computers and was only involved through management of the internet café, that Defendants were required to file a replevin action to recover the seized property, that the Justice Court had no jurisdiction over the matter because of the monetary limits imposed by statute, that venue was not proper in Clay County, and finally that the computers should not be returned because they were illegal gambling devices and the subject of an ongoing criminal investigation in the process of being analyzed. (R 35-42.) In opposition, the Moores filed their responsive Memorandum of Law on January 14, 2008. (R. 44-47.) The Defendants pointed out the inconsistencies with the State's arguments, namely that the

State claimed the computers were illegal gambling devices, while simultaneously arguing that the State needed to maintain possession over the seized computers for forensic analysis to determine whether they were actually illegal, despite the fact that no criminal charges were pending against the Defendants, and the State was not prepared to try its case. (R. 44-47.) The Defendants also cited authorities that the Justice Court had the authority to control the disposition of property seized pursuant to its own warrant and that an officer holding the property must respond to court orders as he or she holds the property subject to the court's direction. (R. 46-47.) The State eventually submitted a Notice of Hearing for January 14, 2008, on its Motions to Quash. (R. 91.)

At the Circuit Court proceedings held on January 14, 2008, before Judge Kitchens, the State failed to produce the computers pursuant to the Moores' Subpoena Duces Tecum, believing their arguments so strong in the Motions to Quash as to prevent the need even to bring the computers to court. (T. 24.) At the hearing, the State first put on legal arguments for the court before calling any witnesses⁵. (T. 3-27.) The State was asking in essence for the Circuit Court to vacate the orders of the Justice Court. (T. 22.) Following argument of counsel, the Circuit Court requested evidence in the form of testimony that would tend to show the computers were illegal gambling devices under Section 97-33-7 of the Mississippi Code and this Court's decision in *Mississippi Gaming Commission v. Henson*, 800 So. 2d 110 (Miss. 2001). (T. 23.) The State then called two witnesses to testify, Robert Sharp and E.W. Williams, both of whom are special agents with the Mississippi Gaming Commission. (T. 28-91.)

At the close of the hearing, the Circuit Court had requested post-hearing briefs be submitted by both sides within the following thirty (30) days. (T. 92.) After several requests for

⁵ Scott Johnson, counsel for the State, insinuated at the Circuit Court hearing the State's intention to present the case to the grand jury in April of 2008, despite the absence of any criminal charge on file. (T. 12-13.)

extensions of time were granted, the Circuit Court entered an Order for Continuance, granting a Motion made by the State, extending the deadline for the filing of all briefs until May 16, 2008. (R. 106.) Pursuant to that court Order, the Moores submitted their post-hearing brief for filing on May 16, 2008. (R. 108-22.) The Moores included a number of exhibits with their brief. (R. 123-266). The Moores argued that the court had the authority to dispose of property seized pursuant to its own warrant and that the State had wholly failed to meet its prima facie case in establishing all of the elements of an illegal gambling device. (R. 108-22.)

Despite the Circuit Court's Order, the State failed to file its brief timely; in fact, the State did not submit its post-hearing brief for filing until June 13, 2008, almost a full month after the Moores had submitted their brief, and almost a full month after the court-ordered deadline, as well. (R. 267-68, 269-97.) The State argued that the computers seized were illegal gambling devices, that the Justice Court erred in ordering the return of the items to the Defendants, that no prosecution is required where items are contraband per se, and that public policy dictated a ruling in the State's favor. (R. 269-97.) The State also included numerous exhibits with its brief, including several not previously admitted as evidence by the court. (R. 298-330.)

The Moores later filed their Motion to Docket and Dismiss on June 27, 2008. (R. 331-34.) The basis of this Motion was that the State's failure to file their brief timely gave the State an unfair advantage in that it was able to review and respond to the Moores' brief, despite the fact that both briefs from all parties were due on the same day by court order. (R. 331-34.) The Moores also alleged that the State had improperly introduced evidence not already on record. (R. 332.) The Moores also noted that, at the time of their Motion, June 25, 2008 – now more than one (1) year before the filing of the present brief – the State had been in possession of the seized property for two-hundred and eighty-six (286) days. (R. 332.) At the time of the

submission of this brief, that amount of time has now more than doubled and is now at more than six hundred (600) days. It is likely that before this appeal reaches resolution, that time period will surpass two (2) full years. During this entire time, the State has been in possession of the property while no criminal charges whatsoever have been pending against the Moores.

The State filed its "Response to Appellees' Motion to Docket and Dismiss," arguing – without any citation to legal authority – that the introduction of exhibits not in evidence is allowable because the information is in the public domain and comes from the Tel-Sweeps website, and again that the State may properly hold the Defendants' seized property for this long of a time period without any criminal charges pending or prosecution of the Defendants because no property rights exist in contraband per se, likening the computers to cocaine. (R. 336-41.)

Finally, the Moores filed a "Response of the Appellees" as rebuttal in opposition to the State's Response, highlighting the State's failure to point to any facts proving the computers were contraband per se and the continued lack of criminal charges while the State remains in possession of the Moores' property, purportedly because of a need for continued forensic analysis. (R. 343-47.) The Moores also explained in their rebuttal brief that the sweepstakes prizes are simply part of a sweepstakes promotion of the phone cards they sell in their internet café, and pointed out the lack of the need for consideration, as well as the lack of a random-number generator in the computers at issue, a distinguishing characteristic making slot machines illegal under the law because of the element of chance. (R. 344, 45.)

On the State's appeal of the Justice Court decision, the Clay County Circuit Court eventually ruled in favor of the State, finding that the computers at issue constituted illegal gaming devices, and that the computers seized were contraband per se. (R. 415-20.) The Circuit Court divided its Order and Opinion into three issues – whether the Justice Court properly had

jurisdiction of the subject matter, whether the phone cards were comparable to those in the Supreme Court case of MGC v. Treasured Arts, and whether the computer devices were contraband per se, and thus not to be returned to the Defendants. (R. 415-20.) The Court ordered that the computers were deemed contraband per se, and that the State should continue to possess the seized devices. (R. 420.) Thus, in ordering that no devices should be returned to the Moores, the Circuit Court reversed the ruling of the Justice Court. (R. 420.)

The Circuit Court found that the computers at issue constituted illegal gaming devices, and that the State "was justified in seizing the computers." (R. 415.) The Circuit Court additionally found that Jurisdiction was not proper in the Justice Court, based on the monetary jurisdictional limits imposed by Section 9-11-9 of the Mississippi Code. (R. 416.) In finding against the Defendants, and despite the fact that the telephone cards in the present case were legitimate phone calling cards that can be lawfully used and sold, the Circuit Court specifically found that when the cards and the computer terminals were used together, they constituted an illegal "slot machine," under the statutory definition. (R. 419-20.) The Court noted that "the phone cards and the computer terminals by themselves are not contraband per se," but found that when used together, their collective status became contraband per se. (R. 419-20.) The Circuit Court entered its Order and Opinion on January 6, 2009. (R. 415-20.) From this Order and Opinion, the Moores now bring this appeal to this Court, requesting reversal. (R. 421.)

III. Statement of Facts Relevant to the Issues Presented for Review

Defendants Ronnie and Jeff Moore own and operate, respectively, the Paradise Isle Internet Café, in West Point, Mississippi, which is in a retail location formerly occupied by a store named "One Step Shoes," and at the time of the events in the court record, the shoe store sign was still affixed to the building above the internet café's front door. ((R. 34, 44, R. Supp.

5.)⁶ The internet café provides public internet use for an hourly charge, sells long-distance telephone cards, and offers free participation in the optional "Phone-Sweeps Prepaid Sweepstakes." (R. Supp. 4, 9, 14, 16-17.) No purchase is necessary for participation in the sweepstakes; however, a patron may elect to participate in concert with a purchased phone card, though this is "completely optional" and "not required to receive phone time purchased." (R. Supp. 14, 17.) In fact, customers are given a "no purchase necessary" opportunity and can participate in the sweepstakes without actually buying any phone time, or using a phone card, at all. (R. Supp. 17.) The sweepstakes points themselves – which are digitally assigned a "win" or "loss" for each specific entry – cannot be bought or redeemed, as they have no cash value, but, as a marketing promotion, free sweepstakes points do accompany the phone time purchased; for each dollar of phone time purchased, the buyer receives a corresponding amount of free sweepstakes points. (R. Supp. 17.)

Each sweepstakes point has a pre-determined winning value in money prizes or merchandise, and cash prizes can be used to purchase additional phone time, which would again come with accompanying free sweepstakes points. (R. Supp. 17.) The sweepstakes points can be redeemed or validated in several ways, including mailing them in, or utilizing a "quick redeem" feature, allowing the participant to redeem his winnings at the point-of-sale counter immediately upon receipt of the sweepstakes points, even if no purchase was made. (R. Supp. 17.) Additionally, the user can redeem his or her sweepstakes points in groups through the use of the validation computers, which utilize onscreen displays of graphical representations of spinning wheels for entertainment purposes only that have no effect on the sweepstakes prizes,

⁶ The court record consists of four volumes, numbered 1-4, as well as a smaller, fifth, unnumbered volume which contains the exhibits introduced at the Circuit Court hearing held on January 14, 2008. This appears to be a supplemental volume to the record. Any citations herein referencing "R. Supp.," denote pages within that supplemental record of the Circuit Court exhibits.

but are simply a visual representation of the results pre-determined sweepstakes winnings; however, this is not required as a user has the option of the "quick redeem" feature to redeem or validate all her or her free points at the point-of-sale counter without use of the computers. (R. Supp. 14, 17.)

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