IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONNIE MOORE and JEFF MOORE

APPELLANTS

v.

CASE NO. 2009-CA-00235

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI and MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION

BY: JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

THOMAS H. MUELLER, MSB NO SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

DEANNE B. SALTZMAN, MSB N
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

OF COUNSEL:
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
Post Office Box 23577
Jackson, Mississippi 39225-3577
601-576-3872 (telephone)
601-576-3866 (facsimile)
Counsel for Mississippi Gaming Commission

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

RONNIE MOORE and JEFF MOORE

APPELLANTS

v.

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

casino-type games for the potential of winning a cash reward. The real enticement is the game in which patrons may win up to several thousand dollars, not the purchase of phone time. In *F.A.C.E*, the Indiana Court of Appeals addressed this same issue and, in reiterating what the trial court found, stated:

A distinction exists between promotion of a primary business of selling a meal or a drink for valuable consideration together with a chance to win a business related prize, in kind a car, albeit, as a sweepstakes prize which attracts sales, and promotion of a non-primary business related and incidental activity for valuable consideration together with a chance to win a prize unrelated to either the primary business activity or attraction of sales. The difference in the distinction is in the essence of the product, e.g., food, while the latter promotes the prize and the product (coupon) is unrelated to the primary business purpose or the promoter, of the distributor, or of FACE. The court fails to discern any claim that FACE is engaged in the primary business of marketing for the businesses which advertise in the Ad-Tabs, or that FACE's primary source of revenue is from those businesses as opposed to the sale of Ad-Tabs.

821 N.E.2d at 43; see also *Six Electronic*, 792 So. 2d at 328(¶26-27). As so distinctly put by the *Barber* Court, "gratuitous entries obtained by mail or at the race track do not legitimize the high-stakes MegaSweeps any more than some opportunity for free plays could render innocuous a conventional slot machine." *Barber* at 615. In other words, it is not important here how the sweepstakes functions overall but how this establishment functioned. The element of consideration is clearly met.

B. THE PLAYER HAS THE POTENTIAL TO WIN A REWARD

Although the Moores do not take issue with the presence of this element, it is nonetheless important to show that all elements are met. As stated in Tel-Sweeps own literature, "each ticket contains a configuration of three (3) to twenty-five (25) symbols with winning combinations entitling the customer to money prizes ranging in value from \$1.00 to \$1,000.00." Clearly, as a result of paying for "phone time", the patron has the potential to win a reward in the form of cash. [R. Clerk's Evidence Papers 017, ¶12]. The Moores cannot distinguish one aspect of the "sweepstakes system" from another in an attempt to claim that no possibility of reward exists. In *Six Electronic*, the Mississippi Court of Appeals stated:

In effect, we are being asked whether these statutes require or at least permit a device to be dismantled and various parts labeled as contraband while others maintain their innocence ... the device is a slot machine because it delivers something "of value in varying quantities ... in addition to merchandise." This makes the phone cards an integral and not just incidental factor in deciding that this is a slot machine.

792 So. 2d at 328 (¶25)(citations omitted)(emphasis added). Additionally, the Alabama Supreme Court in *Barber* stated:

The flaw in Innovative's approach is that the elements are not "missing" from the mechanics of the scheme. They are simply *dispersed* throughout the various units and processes of the integrated network ... in the computer age, the fact that *chance* takes place at the point of sale rather than at the readers themselves is simply inconsequential.

960 So.2d at 614-615 (emphasis in original). The "sweepstakes system" and all aspects of the network that makes the system run together as a whole cannot be broken down into minute aspects for purposes of attempting to create a legal loophole for the Moores to jump through. Simply put, the Moores, by virtue of their own advertisement, admit that the potential for reward is present upon purchase of a phone card. "In fact, there is no practical difference between a credit awarded to a player and a token dispensed from a machine." *Henson*, 800 So. 2d at 115(¶18). Here, in a winning situation, the award of "sweepstakes" points" upon purchase of a "phone card" which are ultimately converted into "win points" which are then redeemed for a cash prize or used to by more "phone time" is nothing more than an attempt to convolute the system, confuse players and evade the prohibition against illegal gaming. "It is axiomatic that one may not lawfully do indirectly what is unlawful to be done directly." Barber at 609. There is no question that a patron has the opportunity to win more money than what he or she paid to purchase the card. No matter how many dots you are required to connect to ascertain how the "sweepstakes system" operates, the potential for reward element clearly exists.

C. THE WINNING OF SOME PART OR ALL OF THE POTENTIAL REWARD IS DEPENDANT IN SUBSTANTIAL PART UPON AN ELEMENT OF CHANCE

Again, Tel-sweeps own literature states, "whether the participant wins is determined by the server randomly selecting the next ticket from the predetermined pool of tickets." In this case, the winning of a cash prize is determined by an element of chance,

meaning whether a patron wins is totally outside the control of the patron operating the machine. Although every patron who enters the building and pays money to the attendant receives some "phone time", not every player receives a winning cash reward. It does not matter if the server or seller knows who will win. Chance is in the eyes of the patron/user. Six Electronic at 327(¶22). The patron has no control over whether or not he or she receives a winning ticket or how much the cash prize will be in the event a winning ticket occurs. Just as in the present case, the undercover law enforcement officer lost money the first day he played and won money the second day he played. [T. 63-64]. It does not matter where the chance occurs or at what point in the process the chance occurs. What matters is that there is an undisputed randomness in which an individual card awards a patron a "win". The clerk cannot un-activate a card any more than a patron walking through the door can be guaranteed to become a winner. Thus, the element of chance is satisfied.

II. MISSISSIPPI GAMING COMMISSION V. TREASURED ARTS IS INAPPLICABLE TO THE FACTS BEFORE THIS COURT AS SUCH PRECEDENT DISCUSSES LOTTERIES AND NOT ILLEGAL SLOT MACHINES

Secondly, the Moores cite *Mississippi Gaming Comm'n v*. *Treasured Arts*, 792 So.2d 321 (Miss. 1997) and discuss the case at length in their brief. *Treasured Arts* is inapplicable to the present case and the Moores' analysis of it in relation to the instant case is misplaced and should be disregarded.

The instant case involves the issue of whether the machines seized at Paradise Isle were slot machines and the Moores analyzation of *Treasured Arts* simply confuses the real issue at hand. *Treasured Arts* addresses the issue of whether a business selling telephone calling cards that also gave the potential for a varying prize were legal under Mississippi's *lottery* statutes. *Id.* at 937; see *Six Electronic*, 792 So. 2d at 326 (¶17). It has always been and remains the State's position in the present case that the machines seized were *slot machines* within the confines of Miss. Code Ann. § 75-76-5(ff) and Miss. Code Ann. § 97-33-7(1). The issue of illegal *slot machines* was not discussed in *Treasured Arts*. While the State acknowledges that both cases on their face involve issues related to gambling and "phone time", the issues in the instant case versus those addressed in *Treasured Arts* are completely distinguishable.

The question before this Court is whether the machines are illegal slot machines and the most applicable case is *Six Electronic*, a case focused on the discussion of slot machines. The Moores argument that *Treasured Arts* is somehow applicable is liking comparing arson to burglary. It is undisputed that both arson and burglary are crimes against property. Nonetheless, both crimes involve different statutes and elements which make up those offenses. Just because *Treasured Arts* deals with a particular gambling offense, it is not applicable to all gambling crimes. *Treasured Arts* deals with a lottery. *Six Electronic* deals with slot machines. As so clearly stated by the Mississippi Court of Appeals, "*Treasured Arts* is irrelevant, though, because reasoning based on whether the *risk* to win is a lottery

avoids the entirely different issue of whether the *means* to win is by a slot machine." *Six Electronics*, 792 So. 2d at 326 (¶24)(emphasis in original).

Interestingly enough, the Moores readily acknowledged in their circuit brief that their "sweepstakes system" could not be construed as a lottery. [R. 118, ¶3]. Nonetheless, in their brief before this Court, the Moores argue at length that *Treasured Arts* is unquestionably applicable. Even, assuming *arguendo*, that the cards themselves are legal, the Moores argument still fails to negate the illegality of the operation as a whole. *Six Electronic* clearly held that where the phone cards are used in a machine, the entire activity is nonetheless rendered illegal. *Id.* at 328 (¶25-28). As such, the Circuit Court correctly held that *Treasured Arts* was inapplicable to this case.

III. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT THE CLAY COUNTY JUSTICE COURT DID NOT RETAIN JURISDICTION OVER THE SEIZED ITEMS

Questions relating to jurisdiction or statutory construction are questions of law which appellate Courts review de novo. *Loveless v. City of Booneville*, 972 So. 2d 723, 731 (¶21)(Miss. Ct. App. 2007), citing *Jensen v. State*, 798 So. 2d 383, 384 (¶6)(Miss. 2001).

Although this issue is largely moot since the Circuit Court ruled on the underlying jurisdictional issue after a hearing and full briefing, the State will nonetheless briefly discus this issue. In its appeal from the Clay County Justice Court to the Clay County Circuit Court, the State argued that the Justice Court erred in several respects. The State argued that the Justice Court had no jurisdiction to order return of the machines for several

reasons. First, the State argued that the Justice court erred by ordering return of the machines seized to Jeff Moore, a defendant who had no ownership interest in the machines. Second, the State argued that the Justice Court erred by ordering machines returned where no proper underlying cause of action existed before the Court for entering such an order. Third, the State argued that the Justice Court erred in not requiring the Moores to properly file a replevin action, as such an action would have required them to file a complaint setting forth the value of the items they wish to recover. Thus, it was likely that jurisdiction and venue alike were improper. And finally, the State argued the Justice Court erred by not recognizing that the illegal gaming machines are contraband per se, subject to immediate confiscation and destruction with or without pending criminal charges.

In its Order, the Clay County Circuit Court agreed that the amount in controversy clearly would have exceeded the statutory limit of \$2500 for the Justice Court to have proper jurisdiction and found that proper jurisdiction would have been found in the Circuit Court. [R.E. 1]. The Circuit Court nonetheless found the jurisdictional issue to be moot, holding that it had jurisdiction to entertain the appeal and that what happened in the Justice Court was of no legal consequence.

The State agrees that the Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Clay County Justice Court did not have jurisdiction to Order return of the machines. It seems that the Circuit Court, for purposes of judicial economy, simply went forward with addressing the underlying issue of the illegality of the slot machines even though the Moores had failed

to follow proper procedures for seeking recovery of property seized. The State does not question the Circuit Court's diligent efforts to address the issues before it, no matter how procedurally flawed the arrival may have been before the Circuit Court. Nonetheless, for purposes of responding to the Moores' brief, the State must again briefly reiterate its position that Ronnie Moore failed to pursue the proper legal and statutory avenues for recovering property (i.e., through a separately filed replevin action).

Throughout their brief, the Moores continually attempt to make this appeal a criminal matter when, in fact, it is a civil appeal. The confusion arises out of the Justice Court where the Moores made an oral motion for return of the machines in a case that had already been dismissed. Though it was argued by the State and the Justice Court orally ruled that a replevin action must be filed [R. 086, line 14], a proper replevin action was never submitted by the Moores in either Justice Court or Circuit Court. Instead, the State received an Order, a month later, without a cause number or any notice of hearing, from the Justice Court instructing it to return the machines to the Moores. The State appealed the Justice Court's decision ordering return of property, a matter which is clearly civil in nature.

In order for an individual to recover property, a formal complaint setting forth description, value and entitlement must be submitted. The Moores simply skipped this vital step and failed to comply with Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-37-101, which provides the statutory authority and direction for commencement of a replevin action.

Because the Moores never filed a separate complaint for replevin as required pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated § 11-37-101, the Clay County Justice Court had no authority to order return of the seized items and the State was never given the opportunity to establish proper jurisdiction or venue. Had the Moores properly filed a replevin action, then the Court would have required plaintiffs (Moores) to post a bond and the State would have been entitled to at least five (5) days notice before such replevin matter could be heard or tried. The Moores did none of this in the lower Court. The Justice Court erred by not requiring the Moores to file a separate replevin action. Though the Moores attempt to argue in their brief that the Justice Court retains jurisdiction over any items seized simply because it issued the initial search warrant, such argument is without any basis in law. The issuance by the justice court of a search warrant in a criminal case does not establish proper jurisdiction when the underlying criminal case is no longer in existence and the items seized are contraband per se.

Because the Moores failed to properly file a complaint for replevin as statutorily required, they have not filed any documentation showing the alleged value of the property seized. The State, however, presumes, as did the Circuit Court, that the value of the machines and items seized would have been an amount well in excess of two-thousand-five hundred dollars (\$2,500.00). Mississippi Code Annotated § 9-11-9 provides that the "justice court judges shall have jurisdiction of all actions for the recovery of debts or damages or personal property, where the principal of the debt, the amount of the demand,

or the value of the property sought to be recovered shall not exceed Two Thousand Five Hundred Dollars (\$2,500.00)."¹⁵ The State seized at least forty (40) computer terminals, a server, digital recording equipment and other items during its raid of Paradise Isle Internet Café. Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly ruled that the Clay County Justice Court was without jurisdiction to order return of the illegal gaming machines as the value of machines unquestionably exceeds the two-thousand-five-hundred dollar (\$2,500.00) jurisdictional limit mandated by statute.¹⁶

Lastly, just because the State had temporarily dismissed charges against the Moores did not make the seized items any less illegal. As repeatedly affirmed by the appellate courts, no prosecution is required to seize and destroy illegal gaming machines, as no property interest in illegal machines even exists. See *Trainer v. State*, 930 So. 2d 373 (Miss. 2006)(the Mississippi Supreme Court recently held that defendants have no property

This statute was amended in 2008 to increase the jurisdictional limits of justice court to \$3500.

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